S280752

**IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

NORTH AMERICAN TITLE COMPANY, et al.,
Petitioner,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT OF FRESNO COUNTY,
Respondent,

CAROLYN CORTINA, et al.,
Real Parties in Interest.

REVIEW OF A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL
FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, CASE NO. F084913
FRESNO SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. 07CECG01169

**REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST'S
OPENING BRIEF**

**WAGNER, JONES, KOPFMAN &
ARTENIAN LLP**

Andrew B. Jones, SBN 076915
Lawrence M. Artenian, SBN 103367
1111 E. Herndon Ave., Ste. 317
Fresno, CA 93720
559/449-1800; 559/449-0749 Fax

CORNWELL & SAMPLE, LLP

Stephen R. Cornwell, SBN 040737
René Turner Sample, SBN 138046
7045 N. Fruit Ave.
Fresno, CA 93711

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Is a party seeking to disqualify a trial judge for alleged lack of impartiality exempt from Code of Civil Procedure section 170.3(c)'s requirement that a verified statement of disqualification is to be filed "at the earliest practicable opportunity?"
- II. Is Code of Civil Procedure section 170.2's provision that it is not grounds for disqualification that a judge "in any capacity expressed a view on a legal or factual issue presented in the proceeding," inapplicable if, on review, an appellate court determines such issue was not "properly" before the court?

INTRODUCTION

Carolyn Cortina, et al., Real Parties in Interest herein and Plaintiffs in the underlying wage-and-hour class action ("Plaintiffs" or "Plaintiffs/Real Parties") hereby submit their Opening Brief. This case involves a published Opinion of the Court of Appeal for the Fifth Judicial District (the "Opinion") that would, if not reversed and vacated, create new law in conflict with decades of the published decisions of this Court, as well as every Court of Appeal, interpreting the California judicial disqualification statutes set forth at Code of Civil Procedure, Sections 170.1 through 170.5.¹

¹ Unless otherwise noted, all further statutory references will be to the California Code of Civil Procedure.

By reversing, this Court can correct and avoid the undesirable burdens this Opinion otherwise would place on courts, prevent the previously precluded abuses by disappointed litigants that would otherwise be enabled, and avoid the weakening of policy to promote public confidence in the impartiality of the judiciary that otherwise would occur.

The Opinion contains two specific erroneous holdings that will create confusion, conflicts with existing law, and poor policy. The first of these is a determination that, notwithstanding language in Section 170.3(c) requiring a party asserting disqualification of a judge to file a verified statement at the “earliest practicable opportunity,” no time limit applies to such a filing if the alleged ground for disqualification is personal bias or prejudice, or prior involvement of the judge as an attorney or material witness in the matter over which he or she presides. As a corollary to this holding, the Opinion further holds that such claims can never be waived by an aggrieved litigant, and therefore, a judge may not strike them as untimely despite language in Section 170.4, subd. (b), expressly authorizing him or her to do so.

The purported basis for the Opinion is Section 170.3, subds.

(b)(2)(A) and (b)(2)(B), which provide:

(2) There shall be no waiver of disqualification if the basis therefor is either of the following:

(A) The judge has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party.

(B) The judge served as an attorney in the matter in controversy, or the judge has been a material witness concerning that matter.

Since the time the foregoing language was added by amendment in 1990, courts have interpreted it as applicable only to the process of judicial self-disqualification pursuant to Section 170.3 subds. (a) and (b)(1), because subdivision (a) requires a judge to self-report if he or she determines a ground for disqualification exists, and subdivision (b)(1) authorizes such a judge to ask the parties if they wish to file a mutual written waiver of the disqualification. Subdivision (b)(1) adds the specific caveat that such request is not permitted if the ground for disqualification is one set forth in subdivision (b)(2)(A) or (b)(2)(B).

On the other hand, Section 170.3 (c) provides that if a judge who should disqualify himself or herself fails or refuses to do so, *a party* may seek disqualification by filing a verified statement setting forth the alleged grounds therefor. That section requires a party to file such a statement “at the earliest practicable opportunity,” *regardless of the alleged grounds*.

The phrase “earliest practicable opportunity” predates the 1990 amendment by some 63 years, and this Court held long ago that it was clearly intended by the Legislature as an independent method of judicial disqualification, separate and distinct from judicial self-disqualification, with the obvious implication that the Legislature intended any objection not

filed at the earliest practicable opportunity after learning the relevant facts to be forfeited. (*Caminetti v. Pac. Mutual Life Ins. Co. of Cal.* (1943) 22 Cal.2d 386, 392-393.)

The policy underlying the brief limitations period for a party to file a verified claim of disqualification is consistent with all other rules relating to judicial disqualification: Public confidence in the impartiality of the judiciary requires prompt action, including prompt adjudication of any timely-filed claims. Judges who self-report are expected to do so without delay, and to step aside unless the parties agree to a permissible waiver. Appeals are not permitted for disputes involving judicial disqualification; the expedited process of writ review is required.

Promptness also supports a long-established policy that prevents litigants from withholding grounds for disqualification, intending not to seek disqualification unless a hearing or trial does not go well. The practice of “playing fast and loose” with the judiciary is precluded by the requirement that *all* disqualification claims asserted by a party must be asserted at the first practicable opportunity after learning the facts on which a disqualification claim is based. By holding that *a party’s* bias, prejudice, and prior involvement grounds are *never waived*, the Court of Appeal would enable the very practice the Legislature intended to eliminate when it adopted the “earliest practicable opportunity” standard in 1927.

As discussed below, the Court of Appeal misinterpreted the Legislative history behind the enactment of the 1990 amendments, even though the Opinion cites to the leading case that explains it. The amendments were adopted at the request of the judiciary, and were intended to make the law consistent with self-imposed standards of judicial conduct, by limiting the grounds for disqualification *a judge* could ask the parties to waive. Ethical standards already prohibited a judge from asking parties to waive bias, prejudice, or personal involvement in a suit—the Judges Association thought the law should contain the same prohibition. The amendments were never intended to give litigants a pass to engage in gamesmanship by strategically withholding allegations of bias until the most opportune time. (Here, it was after 15 years of litigation, literally on the eve of entry of a \$43.5 million judgment.)

The Opinion also fails to recognize that, despite the tendency within the courts and legal profession to use the term “waiver” somewhat broadly, Section 170.3 subdivision (b)(2) concerns waiver in the voluntary sense of an intentional relinquishment of a known right, but the “earliest practicable opportunity” requirement concerns *forfeiture*, in the sense of a loss of rights by the failure to act. Even if construed as broadly as the Opinion suggests, a limitation on *waiver* would not apply to a forfeiture of the right to challenge a judge due to a failure to act within the time prescribed by statute.

Because the Opinion also states that a statement of disqualification for bias can be filed with no time limit, and that the matter must be referred to another judge for determination if such statement contains *any* factual allegation supporting bias (whether or not true), it would permit disappointed litigants to use a last-minute bias charge as a standard last effort to revive a failed case. The alleged grounds for such a charge can date back to anything the judge did or said at any time, even before the commencement of the litigation. If not reversed, the Court of Appeal's holding in this case will unleash havoc on already overburdened courts, as the Judicial Council struggles to assign judges to hear post-trial disqualification charges that could become as routine as motions for new trial or judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

The second erroneous holding in the Opinion simply introduces judge-made conditions to the application of Section 170.2, subd. (b) which states “[i]t shall not be grounds for disqualification that a judge ... [h]as in any capacity expressed a view on a legal or factual issue presented in the proceeding,” with exceptions not applicable here. Although statements allegedly evidencing “bias” in this case occurred in the context of the judge expressing his belief that the defendants were being untruthful, evasive, and defiant of the court's discovery orders, the Court of Appeal declined to apply Section 170.2, subd. (b), erroneously stating that the matters on which the trial court expressed opinions were not “properly,” before the

court and had not been “ultimately decided.” The statute contains no such conditions or requirements, and the Opinion now suggests that parties can raise such grounds to deny a judge the obviously intended protection of Section 170.2 to make rulings on veracity, guilt, and other disputed matters, based on the evidence before him or her.

BACKGROUND

Although this wage and hour class action suit is complicated and ancient, the facts related to the instant dispute are relatively simple. The plaintiff class consists of approximately 400 California employees who, under various job titles, performed similar duties in escrow offices owned and operated by defendant/Petitioner from 2003 through 2012. The case was tried without a jury under California’s Unfair Competition Law (Business & Professions Code Sections 17200 *et seq.*), and upon finding liability for unpaid overtime wages in favor of a class of approximately 400 exempt-classified employees, the court issued a Statement of Decision on October 20, 2016 which, *inter alia*, ordered hearings before a referee to determine individual awards of restitution.² After roughly 250 individual hearings, the referee issued a report that was adopted by the court with some modifications, setting the aggregate amount of restitution owed to

² Upon certification of the case as a class action, two sub-classes were identified, one consisting of employees who had been classified by Defendant/Petitioner as overtime-exempt, and the other consisting of employees classified as non-exempt. Respondent court made a finding of liability in favor of the exempt class and determined the non-exempt class should be decertified.

class members at approximately \$43.5 million, including prejudgment interest accrued over many years. (RPA 1607-1705.)

In late 2018, with the referee proceedings still in progress and millions of dollars of restitution awards already reflected in the referee's findings, Plaintiffs/Real Parties learned of a transaction, on a national level, by which original Defendant/Petitioner North American Title Company appeared to sell its name, along with most of its assets, to an entity called States Title Company, without any compensation flowing directly to the defendant. (RPA 158-169.) Plaintiffs' knowledge of this transaction came through commercial advertisements and news reports, as there was no voluntary disclosure by counsel or notice of name change filed with the trial court.³ (See, e.g., RPA-000158-000159; 000161-000163; 000165-000166; 000168-000169; 001147.)

Because the full effect or nature of the transaction was unknown, Plaintiffs conferred with Defendant/Petitioner in January 2019 to ask for the correct name of the class employer in California to "ensure the proper entity is named in the litigation." (RPA-000668.) Defendant/Petitioner did not respond. Plaintiffs again requested some kind of informal production, "to make sure after some twelve years of litigation and multiple changes in ownership or structure, the correct entity is named in this suit as of 2019." (RPA-000680; emphasis added.) Despite these requests,

³ "An attorney has an unqualified duty to refrain from acts which mislead the court. (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 6068, 6128, subd. (a).) The representation to a court of facts known to be false is presumed intentional and is a violation of the attorney's duties as an officer of the court." (*Jackson v. State Bar* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 509, 513; Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 6068, 6103.)

Defendant/Petitioner declined to identify the correct legal name of the class employer post-transaction, and refused to produce any document or witness to confirm the details of the transaction, its effect on the Defendant's California employees, or the current name of the defending entity.

On April 3, 2019, in light of Defendant/Petitioner's refusal to provide information voluntarily, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Reopen Discovery for a Limited Purpose. (RPA-000111-000124.) On April 12, 2019, some four months after news stories announced the "merger" between North American Title Company and States Title Company, Defendant/Petitioner filed its opposition to the motion, flatly (and falsely) stating, "the merger has neither changed the name of the entity that employed [Plaintiffs] nor the parties that will be subject to any judgment the Court enters." (RPA-000286-000287.)⁴ On April 25, 2019, following oral argument, the Respondent court ordered Defendant/Petitioner to produce a "person most knowledgeable" for deposition, with a corresponding production of documents, on specific limited topics. (RPA-000317-000318.)

In response, Defendant/Petitioner produced Mr. Chad Barth for deposition on May 22, 2019. (RPA-000516-000546.) Mr. Barth's testimony

⁴ Significantly, counsel who is the subject of the June 2021 comments signed the opposition as representing "North American Title Company." This representation was continuously made to the Trial and Appeals Courts over 60 separate times until Respondent filed a formal Notice of Name Change in April 2021. No reason has ever been given why counsel did not correct the record immediately or why he continued to claim to represent an entity that did not exist or was "sold" to a third party as ultimately argued.

indicated he had no personal knowledge of the subject transaction, and had made no effort to investigate the designated topics in preparation for his deposition. Beyond the limited information written on a set of notes he was given to bring to the deposition, Mr. Barth could not identify which assets were transferred, when or if a payment of consideration was received in return, or to whom such a payment, if any, was made. In fact, Mr. Barth admitted he had no involvement in the negotiation or execution of the transaction. (RPA-000526-000531.)

One thing Mr. Barth did know was that members of the Plaintiff Class who were still employed at the time of the subject transaction were never terminated from employment, but were somehow divided between “old NATC” (the original defendant) and “new NATC” (the entity to whom the original defendant sold its name and assets). Thus, in the aftermath of the transaction, some Plaintiff Class members in California were employed at “CalAtlantic Title, Inc.” (the new name for North American Title Company) and others were employed by States Title FTS Title Company, a newly formed California corporation which had now assumed the name “North American Title, Inc.” That name would later to be changed again, to “Doma Title of California, Inc.” (RPA-002060.) At deposition, Mr. Barth confirmed that “at least half” of the existing employees of the original defendant (including Class Members) had become employees of the transferee. (RPA-000534, 72:13-17.) Mr. Barth also confirmed that the

signatory for the seller on the Transaction Agreement was “NATG” (North American Title Group), a separate entity which was not the employer of any member of the Plaintiff class, and which is not a party to the instant litigation. (RPA-000537-000538, 85:20-86:3.)

Following the Barth deposition, Plaintiffs again conferred with defendant/Petitioner to seek a production of relevant documents and a witness having sufficient personal knowledge of the subject transaction to discuss its relevant details, including *inter alia* the amount and recipient of any consideration received for the Defendant/Petitioner’s transferred assets, and the correct name of the existing defendant. Plaintiffs also sought an explanation of the post-transaction difference, if any, between “North American Title Company” and “North American Title Company, Inc.” Defendant/Petitioner continued to refuse these requests. (RPA-001466-001467; 001480-001485; 001487-001492; 001494.)

Plaintiffs then filed a motion to compel the appearance of an actually knowledgeable witness with a corresponding production of relevant documents. Defendant/Petitioner’s response was to move for a protective order, and Respondent court consolidated the motions for a hearing on July 11, 2019.

At the hearing, Defendant/Petitioner’s counsel admitted in oral argument that the former North American Title Company, Inc. was not a party to the transaction in which its name and most of its assets were sold:

As to the idea that the Defendant—or that the Plaintiff should be able to discover detailed financial information regarding the transaction—this is a transaction where a company, **North American Title Group, LLC which was a Florida company sold certain of its holdings to a third party. Any—North American Title Company, Inc. was not a party to that transaction.**

(RPA-000940, 5:25-6:5, emphasis added.)

The two motions were submitted, and on September 12, 2019 Respondent court issued an 18-page Order in which it denied Defendant/Petitioner’s motion for a protective order, overruled all but two of Defendant/Petitioner’s objections to deposition questions, and ordered Defendant/Petitioner to produce relevant documents and answer specific deposition questions, including inquiries as to the name of the defendant.

Instead of proceeding as ordered, Defendant/Petitioner filed a Motion asking the court to stay its discovery order. On October 9, 2019, the Trial Court denied the motion, stating:

Defendant has not provided evidence or legal argument to show debatable areas in [the September 12, 2019] ruling. It appears to argue it properly ordered the witness not to answer as to the actual name of defendant in 2019 based on an interrogatory answer given in 2007. That is incorrect. [Citation omitted.] **Counsel offers several documents which she, of course, cannot authenticate because they are from her client—that is why the client is the one that must answer discovery under oath. The problem of counsel attempting to substitute her knowledge for the client’s was discussed as part of the underlying motions. The deponent was asked about assets transferred; counsel now offers what she (not the client) states is a page from the withheld materials stating ‘none’ is the answer to that**

question. To the extent that defendant is attempting to reargue the motions, it is unsuccessful.

The Court considered defendant’s position at length prior to issuing the ruling. The delays of this case have been highly prejudicial to the plaintiffs, and no legal basis for arguing irreparable harm to the defendant has been articulated by moving party. A stay of the entire order is sought, and is denied.

(RPA-001078; emphasis added.)

Following this ruling, Defendant/Petitioner sought relief in the Court of Appeal to prevent the discovery. (RPA-001082-001131.) The writ petition was denied on November 26, 2019, and Plaintiffs finally were able to proceed with a *second* “Person Most Knowledgeable” deposition on December 18, 2019. (RPA-001133; 001205.)

Defendant/Petitioner produced Ms. Sandi Sigg, a junior employee to Mr. Barth. Like Mr. Barth, Ms. Sigg lacked personal knowledge and was not involved in the negotiation or drafting of the transaction agreement. In fact, she was completely unaware of the “merger” until after the deal was signed. (RPA-001232, ¶ 13.) Defendant/Petitioner’s refusal to simply identify itself had now spanned a year.

On February 5, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Leave to Amend the Complaint to correct the caption by adding the names “North American Title Company, Inc.” (as opposed to simply “North American Title Company”) and “CalAtlantic Title, Inc.” to the Complaint, pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 473 and California Rules of Court,

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