**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

NORTH AMERICAN TITLE
COMPANY, et al.,

Petitioners,

SUPERIOR COURT OF FRESNO
COUNTY,

Respondent,

CAROLYN CORTINA, et al.

Real Party in Interest.

Case No. S280752

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE
MERITS**

On review from the decision of the
Court of Appeal of the State of
California, Fifth Appellate District,
Case No. F084913

Superior Court of California,
County of Fresno,
Case No. 07CECG01169

*Barbara J. Miller (SBN 167223)
John D. Hayashi (SBN 211077)
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP
600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 1800
Costa Mesa, CA 92626
Telephone No. (714) 830-0600
Facsimile No. (714) 830-0700
barbara.miller@morganlewis.com

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

may order it stricken.” Section 170.4(b). Section 170.4(b) also expressly states it is conferring this power as an exception to a prohibition set forth in Section 170.3(c)(5), which requires that a challenged judge “shall not pass upon his or her own disqualification or upon the sufficiency in law, fact, or otherwise.” See Section 170.4(b) (setting forth that it applies “[n]otwithstanding paragraph (5) of subdivision (c) of Section 170.3.”).

The restrictions on waiver established by Section 170.3(b)(2) are not modified by Section 170.4(b), especially when analyzed in the light of the entirety of the statutory scheme. See *Canty*, 32 Cal.4th at 1276. Section 170.4(b) allows a disqualification challenge to be stricken if facially insufficient or untimely. But this must be read against the backdrop of the legislature’s intent, expressed in section 170.3(b)(2), that some grounds cannot be waived. If the legislature wanted Section 170.4(b) to apply notwithstanding Section 170.3(b)(2), it would have expressly said so as it did when it stated that Section 170.4(b) operated “[n]otwithstanding paragraph (5) of subdivision (c) of Section 170.3.” See Section 170.4(b). This is yet more textual evidence that the legislature intended that Section 170.4(b) does not override Section 170.3(b)(2)’s waiver restrictions.

Thus, under Section 170.3, certain grounds for disqualification are not waivable, and Section 170.4(b) does not override Section 170.3(b)(2). As a result, under Section 170.4(b), a judge can strike a statement of disqualification as untimely for any of the many reasons specified by section 170.1 other than the ones of personal bias and prior participation as an attorney or witness identified in Section 170.3(b)(2).

2. A broad application of Section 170.3(b)(2)'s waiver prohibition comports with the legislative history.

As the court of appeal explained, the legislative history shows that the disqualification statutes were amended to add Section 170.3(b)(2) in order to conform to the language of the Code of Judicial Ethics, Canon 3(C)(1)(a), as amended on September 18, 1989. Sen. Bill Lockyer, Chairman, Sen. Com. on Judiciary, letter to Gov. George Deukmejian, Aug. 22, 1990 (“When the state’s judiciary has agreed to impose more severe constraints on the entrance of even the appearance of bias into the courts, we should waste no time in putting the weight of statutory law behind the new restrictions. Conformity between the Code of Judicial Conduct and the Code of Civil Procedure is also helpful to judges and attorneys as they deal with these issues on a day to day basis.”); Cal. Code Jud. Ethics, canon 3(C)(1)(a).

“[T]he Legislature is deemed to be aware of existing laws and judicial decisions in effect at the time legislation is enacted and to have enacted and amended statutes ‘in the light of such decisions as have a direct bearing upon them.’” *Apple Inc. v. Superior Court* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 128, 146 (quoting *People v. Overstreet* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 891, 897). More than 100 years ago, this Court recognized that some grounds of judicial bias could not be waived. See *Lindsay-Strathmore Irrigation Dist.*, 182 Cal. at 331-32. This Court adhered to that view in a later case where it recognized that some, different grounds for disqualification that could be waived if not presented “at the ‘earliest practicable opportunity.’” See *Caminetti*, 22 Cal.2d at 390. Thus, in interpreting what the legislature meant when it adopted the term “waiver” in amending section 170.3 in 1990, the legislature is deemed to be aware that the term “waiver” includes implied waiver through the failure to present the accusation sooner.

At the time of the amendment adding Section 170.3(b)(2), the term “waiver” had been broadly understood for at least 50 years to include implied waiver or forfeiture by failing to file the statement at the “earliest practicable opportunity.” *Caminetti*, for example, recognized that “[w]hile the 1927 amendment does not specify in so many words a penalty for failure to urge disqualification at the ‘earliest practicable

opportunity,’ the intention is clear that failure to comply with the provision constitutes a *waiver*.” 22 Cal.2d at 391 (emphasis added); see also *Sacramento & San Joaquin Drainage Dist. v. Jarvis* (1959) 51 Cal.2d 799, 801 (“where an objection to the judge on the ground of his disqualification was not made at the earliest practicable opportunity, it was waived by the conduct of the parties”). The term “waiver” was understood to include failing to take required action within a specified period of time. Contemporaneous case law confirms this: “waiver by conduct may occur where the disqualification is not urged at the ‘earliest practicable opportunity’ as provided in section 170.” *Muller v. Muller* (1965) 235 Cal.App.2d 341, 345. Hence, when the legislature established that certain grounds for disqualification may not be waived, it must have intended for the word waiver to carry the accepted meaning at that time, namely, that it extended beyond an affirmative disclaimer to include the failure to seek or invoke the “waived” right by a specified time.

As explained in *Muller*, 235 Cal.App.2d 341, the term waiver swept more broadly than written waiver and included forfeiture theories based on failing to comply with the statutory “earliest practicable opportunity” requirement. *Id.* at 345. Thus, Plaintiffs’ attempt to draw a difference between express written waiver and forfeiture by untimely filing falls flat.

Plaintiffs cite *Caminetti*, 22 Cal.2d at 392, stating that “the 1927 amendment affords an additional statutory means by which a disqualification arising under subdivision 3 of section 170 may be waived, viz., failure to urge such disqualification at the ‘earliest practicable opportunity’” and they latch onto the phrase “additional statutory means” for waiver. But what is important is that *Caminetti* refers to this statutory requirement for timely filings as a form of “waiver” and does so in 1947. When Section 170.3(b)(2) was enacted in 1990, the legislature would have known that the phrase housed in the current Section 170.3(c)(1) had been held to constitute a form of waiver if not complied with. As such, if the legislature had wanted something less than a broad interpretation of the “waiver” prohibition on disqualification, it would have used different language. But it did not.

Nor does *People v. Barrera* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 541, require a different conclusion. Plaintiffs cite to the discussion of Section 170.3(b) in that case. But *Barrera* does not hold, as Plaintiffs suggest, that the legislature’s amendments only apply to instances where the judge inaugurates the disqualification process and not when a party has to affirmatively seek disqualification. Although self-disqualification was one concern given the judicial ethics canons, as discussed above, *ante* at

30, that distinction does not make sense when taking account of all of the language in Section 170.3(b).

Barrera's actual holding, that the legislature left intact the requirement that appellate review could only be by writ, supports the court of appeal's decision because it is another example showing that the judicial disqualification statutes generally set forth rules applicable in disqualification situations generally and not rules that are conditioned on how the issue of disqualification is first raised.

Nor are *Barrera's* policy concerns implicated here. *Barrera* expressed concern about the delay associated with the appellate process as a reason to take a different view of the prohibition on waiver of grounds for judicial disqualification, as they reflect on the integrity of the judiciary and public respect for judicial institutions. *See* 70 Cal.App.4th at 551. But, when the disqualification issue arises prior to judgment, other features of Section 170.3 limit a party's ability to set aside rulings an accused judge makes and encourage parties to promptly raise grounds for disqualification. Section 170.3(b)(4) provides that where a judicial disqualification occurs after rulings are made but before judgment is entered, those ruling "shall not be set aside" except for "good cause." Section 170.3(b)(4). Thus, a party has no incentive to sit on his or her rights and wait during proceedings in the trial court and hope a

new judge revisits the disqualified judge's rulings, because there is not necessarily a second bite at the apple to be gained.

Insofar as Plaintiffs are suggesting that the court of appeal decision clears the path to raise disqualification issues on an appeal, the court addressed no such thing and the statute plainly instructs otherwise. *See* Section 170.3(d) (“The determination of the question of the disqualification of a judge is not an appealable order and may be reviewed only by a writ of mandate from the appropriate court of appeal[.]”). The fact the legislature left in place established rules and timetables for perfecting appellate review is not uncommon. Rights can be lost if appellate review is not sought in the required manner even if those rights are not themselves subject to waiver.¹⁶

Much of the delay here is the result of Judge Hamilton refusing to send the issue of his disqualification to a neutral officer, by way of his order striking the challenge. In cases that proceed without such complications, the disqualification issues are promptly referred to a neutral judge, who assesses the claim followed by expedited writ review if the disqualification claimant wants to continue pursuing the allegations.

¹⁶ For example, by failing to timely file a notice of appeal.

3. Section 170.3(b)(2) represents the legislature’s judgment that certain grounds for disqualification so implicate public confidence in the judiciary that the parties cannot waive them.

The court of appeal decision properly effectuates an overarching objective of disqualification proceedings. See *Freeman*, 47 Cal.4th at 1000-1001 (the statutory disqualification scheme in the Code of Civil Procedure “is not solely concerned with the rights of the parties before the court but is also intended to ensure public confidence in the judiciary”); *Wechsler v. Superior Court* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 384, 391 (“The applicable disqualification standard is an objective one: if a fully informed, reasonable member of the public would fairly entertain doubts that the judge is impartial, the judge should be disqualified.”).

It makes no sense that the legislature would have identified through Section 170.3(b)(2) two types of judicial bias that could not be waived, but then permitted those same accusations of bias to be waived when a party has to pursue disqualification because the judge will not. If a personally biased judge presiding over a case is so problematic that the parties cannot knowingly and affirmatively waive disqualification, waiver should not rest on the basis that they deferred seeking disqualification—particularly in a case like this where the problem is that the facts supporting disqualification emerged and expanded over

time. As the court of appeal stated, “it would be incongruent to prohibit express waiver of certain grounds of disqualification but allow for implied waiver of the same grounds should a party inadvertently wait too long to file a statement of disqualification.” (Op. 32).

Moreover, it is the judge who tries to suppress independent examination of his impartiality who should receive the greater scrutiny. It makes no sense that waiver would be prohibited only where a judge is aware enough to recognize his bias and call it to the parties’ attention. The judge who is unable to recognize bias is the one who merits more scrutiny. Other cases have agreed with this conclusion and held that it would be problematic to adopt a rule “that the requirement of a written waiver applies only where the judge actually finds himself or herself disqualified” as it “would permit a disqualified judge to avoid the consequences of disqualification, even in the absence of a waiver, by simply failing to acknowledge his or her own disqualifying conduct.” *Hayward v. Superior Court* (2016) 2 Cal.App.5th 10, 49. Here, Judge Hamilton not only failed to recognize his bias and self-disqualify; he effectively prevented an independent evaluation of the accusations against him by striking Lennar Title’s challenge as untimely.

The provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure, including the judicial disqualification statutes “are to be liberally construed, with a

view to effect its objects and to promote justice.” Section 4; *see also Howell v. Budd* (1891) 91 Cal. 342, 353. The ends of justice here are served by ensuring an independent judicial officer evaluates Lennar Title’s disqualification statement based on the grounds identified as non-waivable in Section 170.3(b)(2).

4. There is no conflict with the court of appeal’s decision and the existing caselaw.

Plaintiffs erroneously contend that the court of appeal departs from the way other cases have addressed the statutory language concerning “earliest practicable opportunity.” Not so. As to all grounds for disqualification, other than those identified in Section 170.3(b)(2) as non-waivable, a disqualification challenge is waived if not filed at the earliest practicable opportunity.¹⁷ The cases identified do not involve grounds for disqualification designated as not waivable under Section 170.3(b)(2). Therefore, they do not address how that provision interacts with Section 170.3(c)(1).

Plaintiffs rely on *Tri Counties Bank v. Superior Court* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 1332, to claim that giving effect to Section 170.3(b)(2)’s anti-

¹⁷ Lennar Title believes it has complied with the earliest practicable opportunity requirement in Section 170.3(c)(1) as set forth extensively in the briefing to the court of appeal. Should this Court reverse here (and it should not), it would be necessary to remand to the court of appeal to address the parties’ argument on this issue.

waiver provisions would upset the existing caselaw. But the asserted ground for disqualification in *Tri Counties* was that the judge conducted an independent factual investigation of an issue he decided by citing in his order a judicially noticeable document. That is not an accusation of personal bias or prejudice and therefore does not fall into the category of non-waivable bias under Section 170.3(b)(2). Not surprisingly, therefore, *Tri-Counties* does not discuss the non-waiver provision in Section 170.3(b)(2) at all. Nothing about the court of appeal's decision here disturbs the *Tri-Counties* holding and, likewise, nothing in *Tri-Counties* conflicts with the decision here.

Plaintiffs cite other distinguishable cases. *Alhusainy v. Superior Court* (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 385, does not address the statute that prohibits waiver of some grounds of disqualification. While the court found the disqualification accusation in that case was untimely, *Alhusainy* nevertheless decided that the untimely allegations of bias necessitated the assignment of a new judge on remand. *Id.* at 395. That result underscores the public policies served by having bias claims considered and not squelched by the unilateral action of the accused judicial officer.

Similarly, in *People v. Seaton* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 598, 698, even though the litigant did not raise the issue of bias until direct appeal

(making it technically unreviewable since it was not presented through the exclusive avenue of statutory writ review), this Court stated it still reviewed the record and decided the judge was not biased. In *People v. Hines* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 997, 1041 and *People v. Scott* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1188, 1207, the issue of disqualification was not preserved on appeal because there was no objection or statement of disqualification filed at the trial court level.

As discussed above, the issue of whether a party may wait until appeal to raise a question of bias is an entirely different issue given the statutory writ mechanism providing for appellate review and Section 170.3(c) laying out the process for neutral evaluation of facially sufficient bias allegations. See *People v. Bryant* (1987) 190 Cal.App.3d 1569, 1572.

There is no conflict between the court of appeal's decision and the existing caselaw. Moreover, to the extent this Court thinks otherwise, there is no reason not to course correct and adopt a rule which is more faithful to the statutory text and purposes of the amendment and disqualification scheme as a whole. None of these cases address the holistic statutory framework or even invoke Section 170.3(b)(2)—this Court would not be disturbing any deeply engrained legal rule by affirming the court of appeal.

5. Plaintiffs' concerns with the court of appeal's interpretation of Section 170.3(b) are overstated.

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